IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,

Supreme Court No.: 21-0162

Case No. 20-F-51

Circuit Court of Nicholas County

SHAUN RICHARD DUKE,

v.

Defendant below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew Brummond Appellate Counsel W.Va. Bar No. 10878 Public Defender Services Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A co-defendant delivered Fentanyl she believed was heroin, causing death. The State charged Petitioner as acting in concert because the co-defendant drove his car to the deal while Petitioner was unconscious from taking the same Fentanyl.

- IV. Is a jailhouse snitch's testimony, that Petitioner premeditated a murder on his own, relevant to the unintentional and vicarious homicide charged in the indictment or does it concern an uncharged bad act?
- V. Do Petitioner's convictions and consecutive sentences for both delivery and delivery causing death violate double jeopardy?
- VI. Where the co-defendant opted to use Petitioner's car for a drug deal after Petitioner lost consciousness, could the State show an agreement/concerted action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After initially deadlocking, ¹ a Nicholas County jury convicted Petitioner of acting in concert with a drug dealer who used his car to deliver a controlled substance causing death. ² Petitioner appeals because the dealer did not decide to sell drugs until after Petitioner lost consciousness from taking the same Fentanyl that caused the decedent's overdose. ³ The jury convicted only after a jailhouse snitch—who faced a possible life sentence in federal prison for importing 177,000 pounds of methamphetamine into West Virginia ⁴—testified to a different act altogether: that Petitioner alone injected an overdose to intentionally murder the decedent. ⁵

Because the State could not prove its charged offense and the circuit court permitted it to introduce evidence of an uncharged one instead, Petitioner requests that the Court reverse his conviction.

¹ A.R. 686.

² A.R. 690-92.

³ See A.R. 463; A.R. 489; A.R. 491-92.; see also A.R. 7.

⁴ A.R. 867; see 21 U.S.C.A. § 841.

⁵ A.R. 372-73.

a. Petitioner let a friend drive his car so he could do drugs and she could buy cigarettes before returning home.

Petitioner's convictions stem from allegations that he acted in concert with a drug dealer to deliver methamphetamine and Fentanyl (that everyone believed was heroin)⁶ to a buyer and her boyfriend, the decedent, causing the latter's death due to inhalation.⁷

The State reached a plea agreement with the dealer but did not present it to the court until after she testified against Petitioner.⁸ In 2019, she did not own a car and dealt drugs from her home.⁹ To run errands or sell drugs outside her home, she relied upon friends and neighbors to drive her.¹⁰ She would repay them with money or drugs.¹¹

On September 23, 2019, the dealer was at home. 12 The decedent's girlfriend, the buyer, 13 texted asking permission to visit the dealer's home to buy drugs. 14 But they made no plans to meet because she wanted heroin; the dealer only had methamphetamine. 15

The dealer's supplier then arrived and fronted her more meth and what they thought was heroin. 16 The dealer texted the buyer that she now had heroin. 17 However, the buyer lost cell service and did not receive the text. 18

After the supplier left and the dealer failed to secure a sale with the buyer, Petitioner stopped by the dealer's home in the early morning of September 24.¹⁹ She was friends with Petitioner, who did not own a cell phone, but would stop by to socialize.²⁰ Petitioner

⁶ A.R. 555; A.R. 948; A.R. 950.

⁷ A.R. 951.

⁸ A.R. 483; A.R. 510.

⁹ A.R. 437.

¹⁰ A.R. 433-34; A.R. 453.

¹¹ A.R. 434.

¹² A.R. 437-38.

¹³ A.R. 598-99.

¹⁴ A.R. 955-60; A.R. 577-79.

¹⁵ A.R. 442-43.

¹⁶ A.R. 440-41; A.R. 443; A.R. 447; A.R. 488.

¹⁷ A.R. 442-43.

¹⁸ A.R. 537; A.R. 544.

¹⁹ A.R. 449; A.R. 490.

²⁰ A.R. 431-32.

had previously given her rides to run errands, but this night Petitioner arrived spontaneously to socialize.²¹ Petitioner never bought from his friend, but would accept drugs in exchange for rides and the two would share drugs socially.²²

Petitioner and the dealer left for a secluded holler that they frequented to smoke drugs.²³ The dealer drove Petitioner's car and he sat in the passenger seat.²⁴ They spent the next three hours talking and smoking from her supply.²⁵ She still owed her supplier and intended to make up the difference by selling to the buyer at some point.²⁶

The dealer assumed she would have mentioned her earlier texts,²⁷ but never relates telling Petitioner she imminently planned a sale or proposing that he drive her.²⁸ Even this was an assumption, though;²⁹ she could not recall any specific subject matter they discussed.³⁰ She did not recall Petitioner responding or expressing an opinion on her future intention, presuming she expressed her intention at all.³¹

b. Petitioner used the Fentanyl believing it to be a weaker opioid. His friend drove to a drug deal while he was unconscious in the passenger seat.

During their three-hour session, the dealer mostly used meth while Petitioner smoked the Fentanyl, believing it was heroin.³² The dealer then told Petitioner she wanted to drive to Summersville for cigarettes.³³

²¹ A.R. 450-51.

²² See A.R. 452-53.

²³ A.R. 439; A.R. 453-55.

²⁴ A.R. 456.

²⁵ A.R. 455.

²⁶ A.R. 447.

²⁷ A.R. 462; 484.

²⁸ A.R. 455; A.R. 459; A.R. 462; A.R. 483-84; A.R. 491.

²⁹ A.R. A.R. 462; 483-84.

³⁰ A.R. 455; A.R. 459; A.R. 483-84.

³¹ A.R. 484.

³² A.R. 455; 459-60; A.R. 485; A.R. 598; A.R. 601.

³³ A.R. 463; A.R. 489.

Opioids are sedating,³⁴ and Petitioner was in and out of consciousness.³⁵ The dealer characterized him as "sleeping" since leaving the holler for Summersville, and he remained in this state for as long as the dealer drove towards Summersville.³⁶

Petitioner also remained unconscious when the dealer changed her mind about traveling so far. The was still high, had no driver's license, and had a sellable quantity of drugs on her person. The worried the long trip was risky, and did a U-turn for home. The passed the holler going the opposite direction she told Petitioner she would drive. The After another quarter mile out of the way she was near the buyer's home. The home or go to Summersville as she had told Petitioner.

Petitioner was still asleep in the passenger seat⁴³ when the dealer arrived at her new destination.⁴⁴ The home's occupants were surprised to see her.⁴⁵ But, they were still interested in buying so the unexpected visit was welcome.⁴⁶

The dealer returned to the car for her scales.⁴⁷ She also sought to wake up Petitioner, though he required coaxing.⁴⁸ He was still intoxicated and uninterested in the drug sale, but the dealer roused him enough to move him inside.⁴⁹ This is the first conversation the dealer recounts with Petitioner after she said she wanted cigarettes and he fell asleep.⁵⁰

³⁴ A.R. 539; A.R. 371.

³⁵ A.R. 493.

³⁶ A.R. 493.

³⁷ A.R. 463; A.R. 490-91; 493.

³⁸ A.R. 433; 463.

³⁹ A.R. 463; A.R. 490-91.

⁴⁰ See A.R. 463; A.R. 489.

⁴¹ A.R. 457.

⁴² See A.R. 463; A.R. 489; A.R. 491-92.

⁴³ See A.R. 466.

⁴⁴ A.R. 464.

⁴⁵ See A.R. 465.

⁴⁶ A.R. 465.

⁴⁷ A.R. 467.

⁴⁸ A.R. 466-67.

⁴⁹ A.R. 467.

⁵⁰ See A.R. 463-67; 493.

Petitioner and the decedent were on friendly terms and chatted amicably, but otherwise Petitioner did not interact much in the home.⁵¹ He sat to the side while the dealer conducted the transaction.⁵² The three—the dealer, buyer, and decedent—also smoked drugs together.⁵³ Petitioner did not join them.⁵⁴

c. Later, one of the buyers overdosed and died from smoking methamphetamine and the same Fentanyl that caused Petitioner to lose consciousness.

The dealer and Petitioner left about 5:00am and returned to the dealer's home. 55 An hour and a half later, the buyer messaged the dealer that she was "freaking out" and needed to visit. 56 The dealer did not know what she meant by "freaking out." 57 The buyer also could not explain what she meant. 58

The buyer arrived at the dealer's home between 8:30 and 9:00am and asked if she and Petitioner would like to accompany her to a gas station.⁵⁹ They accepted; the buyer drove her car with the dealer in the passenger seat and Petitioner in the back.⁶⁰ Surveillance footage shows all three at the gas station.⁶¹

They then returned to the dealer's home. Petitioner left in his car at 11:00am and the buyer left around noon.⁶² From about midnight the late evening of September 23 until 11:00am of September 24, Petitioner was continuously with the dealer and/or buyer.⁶³

⁵¹ A.R. 537-38.

⁵² A.R. 468-69.

⁵³ A.R. 469-70; A.R. 537.

⁵⁴ A.R. 469; A.R. 596.

⁵⁵ A.R. 471.

⁵⁶ A.R. 472; A.R. 548.

⁵⁷ A.R. 472.

⁵⁸ A.R. 548.

⁵⁹ A.R. 472.

⁶⁰ A.R. 474-75.

⁶¹ A.R. 953; see also A.R. 481; A.R. 495.

⁶² A.R. 478.

⁶³ See A.R. 449; A.R. 490; A.R. 477-78.

When the buyer returned home, she found the decedent asleep, and went to bed as well.⁶⁴ When she awoke, the decedent was no longer breathing and she tried CPR.⁶⁵ Instead of 911,⁶⁶ she called a friend for help.⁶⁷ At around 3:00pm, she arrived at the friend's house which was two minutes away.⁶⁸ He returned with her, got the decedent into the car, and they took him to the hospital two hours later.⁶⁹

When she learned her boyfriend was dead, the buyer and her friend fled the hospital. To She destroyed the drugs and paraphernalia. The then called the Day Report Director and began driving to the drug court office, but police stopped her along the way.

An autopsy showed no injection sites⁷³ or heroin—the drug that rendered Petitioner unconscious and killed the decedent (along with meth) was Fentanyl.⁷⁴ The official cause of death was an overdose due to inhalation.⁷⁵

d. The State charged Petitioner for acting in concert with the dealer to deliver drugs in addition to delivery causing death.

The State obtained an indictment against Petitioner.⁷⁶ The State asserted that the sole basis for Petitioner's liability was acting in concert by letting the dealer drive his car.⁷⁷ The indictment charged Petitioner with: 1) delivery of methamphetamine, 2) delivery of heroin, 3) conspiracy to deliver, 4) delivery causing death, and 5) possession of

⁶⁴ A.R. 560-61.

⁶⁵ A.R. 561.

⁶⁶ A.R. 563.

⁶⁷ A.R. 561.

⁶⁸ A.R. 479; A.R. 564.

⁶⁹ A.R. 564; see also A.R. 6.

⁷⁰ A.R. 564-65.

⁷¹ A.R. 565-66.

⁷² A.R. 565; see A.R. 602.

⁷³ A.R. 402.

⁷⁴ A.R. 950.

⁷⁵ A.R. 951.

⁷⁶ A.R. 776-77.

⁷⁷ E.g. A.R. 78; A.R. 799-801.

Fentanyl.⁷⁸ All of these counts refer to the transaction between the dealer and the buyer.⁷⁹
All the counts specify that Petitioner committed the crimes either by agreement or by acting in concert with the dealer.⁸⁰

Petitioner moved to dismiss the delivery counts.⁸¹ He argued that one cannot deliver drugs resulting in death without first delivering drugs.⁸² Thus, a conviction for both would violate double jeopardy.⁸³ The State responded that the legislature intended the offenses to stack, and the court deferred ruling until after trial to see the evidence.⁸⁴

At trial, the evidence showed a single transaction of two drugs: the dealer sold meth and Fentanyl, mistaking it for heroin. 85 The court denied the motion to dismiss post-trial. 86 The court then ran all of the counts—including one (delivery of meth), two (delivery of heroin), five (possession of Fentanyl) and four (delivery causing death)—consecutively for a twenty-nine to fifty-five year prison sentence. 87

e. Though contradicted by all other witnesses, the autopsy, and surveillance footage, a jailhouse snitch testified that Petitioner murdered the decedent.

About a month before trial, the State informed Petitioner that a federal defendant housed with Petitioner would testify to statements he allegedly made. ⁸⁸ The government charged the snitch with importing 177,000 pounds of methamphetamine into West Virginia. ⁸⁹ For the right price, he would testify that Petitioner did not act in concert with the dealer, but rather intentionally murdered the decedent on his own. ⁹⁰ However, the State

⁷⁸ A.R. 776-77.

⁷⁹ A.R. 776-77; A.R. 797; see also A.R. 3 et seq. (Grand Jury testimony).

⁸⁰ A.R. 776-77.

⁸¹ A.R. 66-70.

⁸² A.R. 66-70; A.R. 850-51.

⁸³ See A.R. 844-46.

⁸⁴ A.R. 70-71.

⁸⁵ See A.R. 468.

⁸⁶ A.R. 924; 934.

⁸⁷ A.R. 938-41.

⁸⁸ A.R. 866.

⁸⁹ A.R. 867.

⁹⁰ A.R. 858; see A.R. 867.

later informed Petitioner that the jailhouse snitch was unsatisfied with his plea offer and had ceased cooperating.⁹¹

About five days before trial, the State reached an accord with the snitch.⁹² Where the snitch had been charged with importing 177,000 pounds of methamphetamine, he would plead guilty to "possession and/or distribution of methamphetamine of more than 50 grams." He faced a mandatory minimum of ten years with a maximum of life, and the offense carries a minimum of twenty years if the drugs caused death or serious bodily injury. The record is silent as to whether any of the 177,000 pounds of drugs the snitch imported harmed any West Virginians. However, federal law permits downward departures from mandatory minimums for defendants who assist the government. The district court sentenced the snitch after Petitioner's trial. Rather than receive either a tenor twenty-year mandatory minimum, the Federal Bureau of Prisons projects that the snitch will discharge his sentence on August 15, 2023.

At trial, the snitch said he was testifying because it was the right thing to do. 98 He said that Central Regional Jail celled him with Petitioner and the two were friends. 99 According to the snitch, Petitioner told him he was in for murder. 100 The snitch said that Petitioner believed the decedent was an informant and wanted to kill him. 101 He testified that after the drug transaction, the decedent "nodded out" under the influence of the

⁹¹ A.R. 867.

⁹² A.R. 858; A.R. 867; compare A.R. 48-49 with A.R. 111.

⁹³ A.R. 867; see 21 U.S.C.A. § 841.

^{94 21} U.S.C. § 841.

^{95 18} U.S.C. § 3553(e).

⁹⁶ See A.R. 374-75.

⁹⁷ Federal Bureau of Prisons Database Search for COREY DAVONTA SMITH, https://www.bop.gov/inmateloc/, (click "Find by Number," Number "66858-060" click "Search").

⁹⁸ A.R. 373.

⁹⁹ A.R. 367-69.

¹⁰⁰ A.R. 370

¹⁰¹ A.R. 371; A.R. 373.

opioid and everyone else left to visit a gas station.¹⁰² According to the snitch, Petitioner separated himself and doubled back to the home.¹⁰³ While the buyer and dealer shopped at the gas station alone,¹⁰⁴ Petitioner injected a fatal dose of Fentanyl to intentionally murder the decedent.¹⁰⁵

The circuit court permitted the snitch to testify over Petitioner's objection. When Petitioner learned a few days before trial about the State's intention, he moved to exclude the testimony and renewed the motion post-conviction. He argued that the snitch's testimony amounted to uncharged bad acts—it was irrelevant to the charged conduct, more prejudicial than probative as to any possible purpose, and too unreliable to be believed. Petitioner proposed that if the State thought he committed an intentional, premeditated murder then it should re-indict him—not charge him with a vicarious, unintentional killing and then enflame the jury with far more serious allegations. The court denied the motion. It ruled that the snitch's testimony—that Petitioner, on his own, premeditated a first degree murder—was "relate[d] directly" to the charge of vicariously committing an unintentional homicide. He

Because the circuit court erred in ruling the evidence directly relevant rather than treat the accusation as an uncharged bad act, and because absent the snitch's testimony the originally deadlocked jury likely would have acquitted, Petitioner appeals.

¹⁰² A.R. 372.

¹⁰³ A.R. 372.

¹⁰⁴ A.R. 372.

¹⁰⁵ A.R. 372-73.

¹⁰⁶ A.R. 98-99.

¹⁰⁷ A.R. 92; A.R. 866.

¹⁰⁸ A.R. 866-67.

¹⁰⁹ A.R. 858; A.R. 867.

¹¹⁰ A.R. 98.

¹¹¹ A.R. 98-99.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case reads like a law exam fact pattern meant to show the limits of the concerted action principal. The State's theory overlooks that the same Fentanyl that killed the decedent rendered Petitioner unconscious. He therefore could not agree to a conspiracy or knowingly "contribute[] to the criminal act." Petitioner only let the dealer drive his car so they could do drugs and she could buy cigarettes. He never authorized her to drive to a drug deal.

Given the skeletal nature of the State's case, it is likely that the snitch's inflammatory testimony tipped the formerly deadlocked jury. But his testimony that Petitioner solely killed the decedent through a pre-meditated act is wholly different conduct than the charges. Ruling that the jury could convict for the charged act based on evidence of an uncharged offense created a fatal variance. The State couldn't prove its charges, so it introduced evidence of a completely different crime instead.

Had the court screened the uncharged bad acts evidence per WVRE 404(b), it could not have admitted it. The State had no legitimate use for the testimony. And circuit courts must themselves be satisfied that the uncharged acts occurred. Given the benefit the snitch received for his bargained-for testimony and the fact that the State's other witnesses, the autopsy, and gas station surveillance all contradict his incredible story, it is unlikely the court would fall for the snitch's story and admit his testimony.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner's conviction presents an issue of first impression: is delivery of a controlled substance a lesser included offense to delivery of a controlled substance causing death, and does convicting a defendant of both offenses when they arise from the same transaction violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy?

Petitioner therefore requests a Rule 20 oral argument and a signed opinion.

¹¹² Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Foster, 221 W. Va. 629, 656 S.E.2d 74 (2007) (per curiam); Syl. Pt. 11, State v. Fortner, 182 W. Va. 345, 387 S.E.2d 812 (1989)).

ARGUMENT

The criminal justice system has a simple presupposition: society should punish people based on their charged conduct—not someone else's, 113 and not conduct for which they have no notice. 114 Here, the State had a glaring logical gap in its charged theory of culpability—no one could testify that Petitioner loaned the dealer a car to commit a drug deal because the evidence showed that the dealer acted alone after Petitioner overdosed—thankfully non-lethally—from the same drugs that killed the decedent. 115

Unable to prove the crimes charged by the grand jury, the State enlisted a snitch to testify to a completely different criminal act. ¹¹⁶ One of which Petitioner had no constitutional notice ¹¹⁷ and which, by its nature, was likely to enflame the passions of the jury. ¹¹⁸ The circuit court should have treated this testimony as uncharged bad acts evidence if it was to admit it at all. Admitting it as evidence to prove the charged offenses constituted a fatal variance and this Court should reverse.

The circuit court should have excluded the snitch's accusation of uncharged misconduct.

The State charged Petitioner with vicariously causing an unintentional homicide by assisting the dealer to deliver drugs. 119 Nothing in the indictment charged that Petitioner personally premeditated an intentional murder. 120 The snitch's allegation, therefore, concerned uncharged misconduct and permitting the jury to convict Petitioner of the charged conduct on its basis constituted a fatal variance.

¹¹³ Foster, 221 W.Va. 629 at Syl. Pt. 5 ("Merely witnessing a crime, without intervention, does not make a person a party to its commission ...").

¹¹⁴ See Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Corra, 223 W. Va. 573, 678 S.E.2d 306 (2009).

¹¹⁵ See A.R. 493.

¹¹⁶ See A.R. 372-73.

¹¹⁷ See W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 4.

¹¹⁸ See State v. McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 147, 153, 455 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1994); cf. Price v. Georgia, 398 U.S. 323, 331, n. 10 (1970) ("There is a significant difference to an accused whether he is being tried" for intentional or unintentional homicide.).

¹¹⁹ See A.R. 776-77.

¹²⁰ Id.; see also A.R. 3 et seq. (Grand Jury testimony).

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