IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DO NOT REM

JUL 2620

Docket No. 21-0162 FILE COPY

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

SHAUN RICHARD DUKE,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the January 28, 2021, Order Circuit Court of Nicholas County Case No. 20-F-51

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE PROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd. East State Capitol Building 6, Suite 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833 State Bar No. 9354 Email: Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's claims are all without merit. First, the testimony of Corey Smith does not represent an "uncharged act" but rather is inculpatory and intrinsic evidence. There is no fatal variance in this matter because the evidence presented matched up with the charges in the indictment. Further, Petitioner conflates the reliability of Smith's testimony with its relevance. The court below properly weighed the evidence using the correct legal analysis and, accordingly, the evidence was properly admitted.

Petitioner's claim that his right to be free from double jeopardy was violated is likewise without merit, as the Legislature created a separate and distinct crime in West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416 rather than creating an enhancement to West Virginia Code § 60A-4-401. Additionally, the provisions against double jeopardy were not violated because the evidence in this matter could have easily been interpreted by the jury to prove three separate drug transactions.

Lastly, the evidence was sufficient to convict Petitioner of conspiracy under the concerted action principle. The evidence showed that Petitioner was more than a mere bystander in the drug conspiracy and deliveries that resulted in Nutter's death. The evidence unmistakably proves that Petitioner met the requirements of criminal liability under the concerted action principle by being at the crime scene and contributing to the criminal act by allowing his car to be used as a vehicle to transport drugs for drug deals. Accordingly, Petitioner's sentences should be affirmed.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of review

Petitioner's claims all have differing standards of review. ""In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review." Syl. Pt. 2, *Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Comm 'n*, 201 W. Va. 108, 492 S.E.2d 167 (1997).' Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Hinchman*, 214 W. Va. 624, 591 S.E.2d 182 (2003)." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Kennedy*, 243 W. Va. 58, 842 S.E.2d 262 (2020).

"Our review of double jeopardy claims is de novo." *Mirandy v. Smith*, 237 W. Va. 363, 366, 787 S.E.2d 634, 637 (2016).

The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995).

B. The Informant's testimony in this matter does not represent "uncharged acts" and was, therefore, properly admitted at trial.

Petitioner argues that Corey Smith's testimony should have been excluded, as it represents

uncharged misconduct and constitutes a fatal variance. Pet'r Br. 11. Petitioner further alleges that

the trial court "misinterpreted the rules of evidence and applied the wrong conceptual framework

for evaluating the evidence's admissibility" by evaluating the testimony under Rules 401 and 403

of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence rather than Rule 404. Pet'r Br. 12. Petitioner's claims are

without merit.

1. The testimony of Corey Smith represented inculpatory and intrinsic evidence, not evidence of an "uncharged" act.

The entire premise of Petitioner's argument in his first assignment of error is that Corey Smith's testimony represents an uncharged bad act. Pet'r Br. 11. The court found that the statements by Smith "relate directly to the charges contained in the indictment" and are inculpatory. A.R. 99. Following the trial, the court found that the statements by Smith were relevant to the matters being tried. A.R. 921. The circuit court's rulings should be affirmed.

First, the court determined that the statements were relevant pursuant to Rule 401 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. *See* Syl. Pt. 10, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994). "Rule 401 defines relevant evidence in terms of probability. The relevant inquiry is whether a reasonable person, with some experience in the everyday world, would believe that the evidence might be helpful in determining the falsity or truth of any fact of consequence." *Id.* at 178, 451 S.E.2d at 744. "As we have often observed, relevance typically presents a low barrier to admissibility." *United States v. Leftenant*, 341 F.3d 338, 346 (4th Cir. 2003). The evidence contained in Smith's testimony is certainly relevant, as it shows that Petitioner was at the scene of the crime and had a hand in Nutter's death. A.R. 371-72. The evidence also shows elements of the knew drugs were being delivered. *Id.* Hence, the evidence was clearly relevant to the crimes Petitioner was accused of committing.

The next inquiry is whether the Rule 403 balancing test has been met. This Court has stated:

Although Rules 401 and 402 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence strongly encourage the admission of as much evidence as possible, Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence restricts this liberal policy by requiring a balancing of interests to determine whether logically relevant is legally relevant evidence. Specifically, Rule 403 provides that although relevant, evidence may nevertheless be excluded when the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion, or undue delay is disproportionate to the value of the evidence.

Syl. Pt. 9, Derr, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731. "As to the balancing under Rule 403, the trial court enjoys broad discretion. The Rule 403 balancing test is essentially a matter of trial conduct, and the trial court's discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." Id. at Syl. Pt. 10. The testimony in this case was not unfairly prejudicial, especially considering Petitioner had the opportunity to cross-examine Smith on the statements made. Further, the probative value of the testimony, testimony that proved elements of the crimes charged, outweighed any prejudice. Rule 403 does not, however, prohibit the introduction of "prejudicial" evidence against a defendant. See W. Va. R. Evid. 403; see also State v. Blevins, 231 W. Va. 135, 150 n.10, 744 S.E.2d 245, 260 n.10 (2013) ("[I]t is imperative to note that the purpose of Rule 403 is not to exclude all evidence that results in prejudice to a defendant. It is the danger of unfair prejudice to which a reviewing court must be attuned." (emphasis in original)). Indeed, inculpatory evidence introduced against a criminal defendant is, by its nature, prejudicial. Rather, Rule 403 provides that a trial court "may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of . . . unfair prejudice." W. Va. R. Evid. 403 (emphases added); see State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 312, 470 S.E.2d 613, 631 (1996) ("Unfair prejudice does not mean damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggests decision on an improper basis."). The lower court properly weighed the evidence and deemed it admissible.

Moreover, even if the testimony shows, as Petitioner alleges, "other bad acts," Smith's testimony in this case is intrinsic evidence. Intrinsic evidence is not governed by Rule 404(b). *See State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 155–56, 764 S.E.2d 303, 315–16 (2014); *State v. Harris*, 230 W. Va. 717, 721–23, 742 S.E.2d 133, 137–39 (2013). This Court has noted that "other bad acts evidence is intrinsic when the evidence of the other act and the evidence of the crime charged are

inextricably intertwined or both acts are part of a single criminal episode or the other acts were necessary preliminaries to the crime charged." *McKinley*, 234 W. Va. at 155, 764 S.E.2d at 315 (internal quotation omitted) (quoting *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 312 n.29, 470 S.E.2d 613, 631 n.29 (1996)). Further, "[e]vents, declarations and circumstances which are near in time, causally connected with, and illustrative of transactions being investigated are generally considered res gestae and admissible at trial." Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Ferguson*, 165 W. Va. 529, 270 S.E.2d 166 (1980), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Kopa*, 173 W. Va. 43, 311 S.E.2d 412 (1983).

The testimony of Smith was necessary, as it represented Petitioner's own statements regarding what occurred that fateful evening. It placed Petitioner inside the home, knowingly participating or at least actively assisting in the drug delivery that caused Nutter's death. Smith's testimony opposed Petitioner's defense that he was merely a passive participant in a drug transaction that caused Teddy Nutter's death.

Petitioner notes that "[b]y calling the evidence intrinsic, the State and court took the position that the jury could convict petitioner of delivery causing death as charged if it believed [Smith's] testimony." Pet'r Br. 14. Petitioner is correct. The evidence was intrinsic, and, as will be discussed further below, the jury could, and did, convict Petitioner based on that evidence.

2. There is no fatal variance in this matter.

Petitioner further argues that the testimony of Corey Smith created a fatal variance, as Smith testified to an "uncharged murder" by Petitioner. Pet'r Br. 14.

"If an indictment alleges that an offense was done in a particular way, the proof must support such charge or there will be a fatal variance. However, if such averment can be omitted without affecting the charge in the indictment against the accused, such allegation may be considered and rejected as surplusage if not material." Syllabus point 8, *State v. Crowder*, 146 W.Va. 810, 123 S.E.2d 42 (1961).

Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Scarberry*, 187 W. Va. 251, 418 S.E.2d 361 (1992). Further, "[t]he variance between the indictment and the proof is considered material only where the variance misleads the defendant in making his defense and exposes him to the danger of being put in jeopardy again for the same offense." *Id.* at 255–56, 418 S.E.2d at 365–66 (internal quotation and citation omitted). In this matter, the evidence corresponded directly with the crimes charged. Accordingly, there is no fatal variance.

Petitioner was charged with delivery of a controlled substance causing death pursuant to West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416, and the indictment specified that Petitioner committed the offense by "unlawfully, intentionally, knowingly, willfully, and feloniously delivering unto Teddy J. Nutter controlled substances which was the proximate cause of his death." A.R. 777. Petitioner reads this provision somehow as an unintentional act, ignoring the very language of the indictment stating that the act was intentional. Petitioner misconstrues the entirety of the relevant statute, making repeated claims that Nutter's death had to be unintentional. *See* Pet'r Br. 11, 13, 14. The statute reads as follows:

Any person who knowingly and willfully delivers a controlled substance or counterfeit controlled substance in violation of the provisions of section four hundred one, article four of this chapter for an illicit purpose and the use, ingestion or consumption of the controlled substance or counterfeit controlled substance alone or in combination with one or more other controlled substances, proximately causes the death of a person using, ingesting or consuming the controlled substance, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional facility for a determinate sentence of not less than three nor more than fifteen years.

W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416. Nothing in this statute requires that the delivery or death be unintentional, or even that the consumption of the controlled substance be voluntary. "Delivery" is defined as "the actual, constructive or attempted transfer from one person to another" of a controlled substance. W. Va. Code § 60A-1-101(h). The testimony of Smith is that the drug was

transferred from Petitioner to Nutter through a syringe. A.R. 371-72. The testimony of Westfall and Russell showed a separate, voluntary exchange of drugs, still within the statutory construct and still meeting all the requirements for conviction. A.R. 357-58, 466-67, 537.

Petitioner asserts, without support, that delivery causing death is a property transaction. See Pet'r Br. 14-15. As noted in the definition of delivery above, nothing contemplates that it is only a property transaction. Petitioner states that an individual cannot be said to be using, ingesting, or consuming a drug administered without consent, but again, does not support his statement with the statutory language. See Pet'r Br. 15. Nothing in the statute states that the ingestion or consumption must be performed voluntarily by the victim.

Petitioner further argues that the evidence showed homicide rather than drug delivery resulting in death. Pet'r Br. 11. This assertion ignores the fact that the prosecuting attorney enjoys discretion in what charges are brought against a particular defendant. Indeed, this Court has advised that "a prosecuting attorney's 'discretion extends to the determination of what type of indictment will be sought in a particular case.'" *State ex rel. Chadwell v. Duncil*, 196 W. Va. 643, 648, 474 S.E.2d 573, 578 (1996) (citations omitted). Further, "the prosecutor in his discretion may decide which of several possible charges he will bring against an accused." *State ex rel. Skinner v. Dostert*, 166 W. Va. 743, 752, 278 S.E.2d 624, 631 (1981) (citations omitted). In this case, the State chose to indict Petitioner on drug delivery resulting in death, even if the facts may have supported a different charge. Selecting a lesser charge than murder does not create a fatal variance.

3. The credibility of Corey Smith's testimony was a jury determination, and the reliability of the testimony was properly determined by the court below.

Petitioner further argues that the court below erred in finding Smith's "incredible" testimony sufficiently reliable to submit the same to the jury. Pet'r Br. 15. Unfortunately, Petitioner

conflates the reliability of the testimony with Smith's credibility, and, thus, this argument must fail. Petitioner rehashes his unsuccessful 404(b) argument, stating that the circuit court had to find that Petitioner in fact committed the "bad act" in order to present it as evidence (Pet'r Br. 16). As noted above, this argument fails because Smith's testimony was not 404(b) evidence.

As for the reliability of the testimony, the lower court properly examined Smith's statements and found them to be credible. A.R.99, 890. Significantly, the State pointed out that Smith's testimony regarding the actors in this case and the area in which the crime occurred was very detailed, and would only be known to Smith if Petitioner had relayed the information to him. A.R. 96.

The remainder of Petitioner's argument on this issue goes not to the reliability of the testimony, but instead to its credibility. It is axiomatic that "[c]redibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163. Further, this Court has specifically stated that

[a]n appellate court may not decide the credibility of witnesses or weigh evidence as that is the exclusive function and task of the trier of fact. *State v. Bailey, supra*. It is for the jury to decide which witnesses to believe or disbelieve. Once the jury has spoken, this Court may not review the credibility of the witnesses.

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